adkins 67524
adkins 0, a. 411-86 No. 67,524 FILED No. 67,524
4-26 80 NOV 6 1985
In the clerk supreme court Supreme Court of Florida
Chief Deputy Clark
TED HERRING,
Appellant,
—vs.—
STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEREMY G. EPSTEIN DENNIS P. ORR KENNETH A. FREELING JAMES P. BODOVITZ

SHEARMAN & STERLING 53 Wall Street New York, New York 10005 (212) 483-1000

Attorneys for Appellant

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ted Herring comes before this Court under a sentence of death. Few defendants have deserved that sentence as little as he does. He comes before this Court the victim of a variety of legal errors committed by the trial court, which first sentenced him to death and has now denied his Rule 3.850 petition. He is also the victim of a series of legal blunders committed by his counsel at the sentencing hearing; these blunders simply denied him a fair opportunity to present a case in support of a sentence of life imprisonment.

Herring's case raises the issue, in the starkest possible terms, of whether the Florida capital sentencing scheme can be applied consistently and evenhandedly. There has been no consistency in its application to Ted Herring. He stands convicted of shooting a store clerk during a convenience store robbery. In February, 1985, one year after this Court affirmed Herring's conviction, it decided the appeal of Carl Allen Caruthers, who also stood convicted of shooting a clerk during a convenience store robbery. The facts of the two cases cannot be distinguished: both men sought only to rob their victims, and fired their guns when the clerks made sudden and unexpected movements. This Court found the death sentence imposed upon Caruthers to be disproportionately severe in relation to other sentences imposed. It also found two aggravating circumstances that were deemed applicable to Herring's case to be inapplicable to Caruthers' case. This court vacated Caruthers' death sentence and ordered that a sentence of life

imprisonment be imposed. Caruthers is now serving that life sentence. Herring remains sentenced to die.

At his sentencing hearing Herring was represented by a lawyer who had never before tried a capital case. In the space of a two hour hearing, that lawyer committed a stunning variety of errors. He neglected to offer or seek out mitigating evidence on Herring's behalf; instead, the defense case consisted solely of the testimony of Herring's mother. He failed to object when the prosecution offered irrelevant and highly inflammatory evidence that surely would have been excluded upon proper objection. He was unable to cite precedents to the trial court in support of positions he advocated. He demonstrated remarkable ignorance of the rules of evidence. This level of ineptitude might have been excused in a lawyer defending his first misdemeanor case. It cannot be excused in a lawyer who stands between his client and the death penalty.

This case is a severe test of the fairness and rationality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme. That scheme rests on certain basic assumptions. It assumes that the carefully drawn statutory criteria—the aggravating circumstances—will enable trial judges to differentiate those meriting the death sentence from those deserving the lesser sentence of life imprisonment. It assumes that defendants will be vigorously represented, so that the mitigating circumstances available to them will be put before the judge and jury. In Ted Herring's case, these assumptions failed. Had the system worked properly, he would not be before this Court under a sentence of death. He asks this Court to vacate that sentence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 29, 1981, at approximately 3:20 a.m., Norman Dale Hoeltzel, a clerk at a Seven-Eleven store in Daytona Beach, Florida, was shot and killed during a robbery at the store. His body was discovered fifteen minutes later by two men who entered the store. (Supp. at 398; 399)¹ The Medical Examiner concluded that the cause of death had been a bullet wound to the head, that the victim was shot twice, that both shots were fired within approximately one minute, and that the first shot was lethal. (Supp. at 481-82) There were no witnesses to the crime and the police never recovered the murder weapon. (Supp. at 496; 527)

Two Daytona Beach police officers arrested Ted Herring while he was in possession of a stolen car on the morning of June 12, 1981. (Supp. at 11) Herring was taken to the stationhouse, where he was interrogated for approximately eight hours. (Supp. at 12-14)

Although they questioned him initially about the stolen car, the police broadened their interrogation to include a number of convenience store robberies. Three police officers conducted the examination, at times simultaneously. (Supp. at 23-25; 498-503; 527-37; 542-47; 549-52) At some point during the examination the police began to suspect that Herring had committed the May 29 robbery and homicide, and their questioning later focused on these two crimes, despite their failure to renew the *Miranda* warnings read to Herring earlier in connection with his possession of a stolen vehicle. (Supp. at 519; 533; 543)

After nearly eight hours of constant interrogation, Herring, outside the presence of counsel, confessed to the robbery and homicide. (Supp. at 34-46; 64-68; 642-43) The confession was tape-recorded. Herring stated that he entered the Seven-Eleven store and, after asking for a pack of cigarettes, drew his gun and demanded money. Herring told the police that he panicked and shot the clerk twice in the head when the clerk made a sudden move. Herring stated: "I shot him, you know, by mistake, but I meant to just put the gun to his head not for it to go off." (Supp. at 128) (A171)²

In February 1982, Herring was tried for armed robbery and first-degree murder arising out of the May 29, 1981 incident. State of Florida v. Herring, Case No. 81-1957-CC. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts on February 25, 1982. (R.O.A. at 70; 71)

The sentencing phase of Herring's trial was held on February 26, 1982, immediately following the conclusion of the guilt phase. It lasted approximately two hours. The State's case was very brief. It offered Herring's prior armed robbery conviction and a probation officer's testimony that Herring had made a racially inflammatory remark to her concerning the victim. (Supp. at 777-78) The State presented no other evidence.

In Herring's defense, his counsel offered only the testimony of Herring's mother, whose direct examination constitutes only three pages of transcript. (A172-A175) Counsel presented no other evidence of Herring's character nor any other evidence in mitigation.

References to the transcripts of Herring's trial, found in the First Supplement to the Transcript of the Record on Appeal, are indicated by the abbreviation "Supp." followed by the page(s). "R.O.A." refers to the Record on Appeal.

^{2 &}quot;A" refers to the Appendix submitted herewith.

The jury returned an advisory sentence of death by an eight-to-four vote. (R.O.A. at 72)

The Honorable S. James Foxman followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Herring to death on March 1, 1982. The trial judge found that four aggravating circumstances and two mitigating circumstances applied and that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (A158-A164) The aggravating circumstances found by the trial judge were:

- (1) That the defendant had been previously convicted of another capital offense or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person;
- (2) That the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery;
- (3) That the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; and
- (4) That the crime for which defendant was to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(A165-A167) The two mitigating circumstances found by the trial judge were:

- (1) The age of the defendant at the time of the crime;
- (2) The defendant's difficult childhood, *i.e.*, that the defendant was raised without a father, that he was hyperactive, had learning disabilities, and had trouble in school.

(A167-A168)

This Court affirmed Herring's conviction and sentence on February 2, 1984, with Justice Ehrlich dissenting as to the application of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, _____ U.S. ____, 83 L. Ed.2d 330, 105 S. Ct. 396 (1984). On November 5, 1984, the United States Supreme Court denied Herring's petition for certiorari, with Justices Brennan and Marshall dissenting. Herring v. Florida, ____ U.S. ____, 83 L. Ed.2d 330, 105 S. Ct. 396 (1984).

On April 2, 1985, Herring filed the Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence ("Motion to Vacate") pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 which is the subject of the present appeal. (A1-A104) The

Motion to Vacate was filed in the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, before Judge S. James Foxman. The State's Answer was filed on July 11, 1985. (A138-A157) On July 24, 1985, Judge Foxman denied the Motion to Vacate without hearing argument or taking evidence. (A158-A164) This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

A REVERSAL OF HERRING'S DEATH SENTENCE WITH INSTRUCTIONS TO IMPOSE A LIFE SENTENCE IS REQUIRED BY THIS COURT'S DECISION IN CARUTHERS v. STATE

In Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1985), this Court reversed a death sentence and instructed the trial court to impose a life sentence on the basis of a factual record virtually identical to the record here. The material facts of Caruthers were that (1) a convenience store clerk, who had known the accused, was found dead behind the store counter, with the cash register open, and (2) after his arrest, the accused confessed to the robbery and homicide, claiming that he shot the clerk three times after the clerk made a sudden movement. 465 So.2d at 497-498. On the basis of this record, this Court concluded that the imposition of the death penalty was disproportionate under Florida law. Id. at 499.

Ted Herring is entitled to the same result. If his death sentence is allowed to stand in the face of *Caruthers*, that sentence will violate Florida law and the United States Constitution, both of which require that the death penalty be applied consistently and evenhandedly.

Because of the remarkable similarities between the facts of this case and those of *Caruthers*, the analysis undertaken by this Court in *Caruthers* is fully applicable here. This analysis reveals that the same errors committed by the trial court in that case were made here. *First*, the trial court committed fundamental error by imposing a death sentence that was disproportionate when compared with the other capital felony cases in Florida in which the death penalty has been imposed. *Second*, the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance was erroneously applied. *Third*, the witness elimina-

tion/avoidance of arrest aggravating circumstance was erroneously applied. Fourth, two aggravating circumstances were impermissibly based upon the same fact. The Caruthers decision mandates reversal of Herring's death sentence.

A. The Constitutional Requirements of Consistency and Fairness in Capital Sentencing Proceedings and Florida's Requirement of Proportionality in Imposing the Death Penalty Require That Herring's Death Sentence be Reversed With Instructions to Impose a Life Sentence

The Constitution requires consistency in the imposition of death sentences. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 49 L. Ed.2d 859, 96 S. Ct. 2909 (1976). The U.S. Supreme Court has continually emphasized its pursuit of the "twin objectives" of "measured, consistent application and fairness to the accused." Spaziano v. Florida, _____ U.S. _____, 82 L. Ed.2d 340, 352, 104 S. Ct. 3154, 3162 (1984), quoting Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110-111, 71 L. Ed.2d 1, 10-11, 102 S. Ct. 869, 875 (1982).

The constitutional requirement of consistency in capital sentencing has two components. First, the state's underlying capital sentencing statute must be carefully drafted to ensure that the sentencing authority is given adequate information and guidance. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. at 195, 49 L. Ed.2d at 887, 96 S. Ct. at 2935. "[W]here discretion is afforded a sentencing body on a matter so grave as the determination of whether a human life should be taken or spared, that discretion must be suitably directed and limited so as to minimize the risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action." Id. at 189.

Second, a sentencing statute, even if constitutional on its face, must be applied evenhandedly:

If a state has determined that death should be an available penalty for certain crimes, then it must administer that penalty in a way that can rationally distinguish between those individuals for whom death is an appropriate sanction and those for whom it is not.

Spaziano v. Florida, ____ U.S. at ____, 82 L. Ed.2d at 352, 104 S. Ct. at 3162-3163, citing Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 103 S. Ct. 2733, 2743 (1983); Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 294, 33 L. Ed.2d 346, 447, 92 S. Ct. 2726, 2754 (1972) (Brennan, J., concur-

ring). Even a carefully designed statute violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments if applied in such a fashion that the cases in which the death penalty is imposed are indistinguishable from the cases in which it is not.

Similarly, Florida law forbids the imposition of death sentences that are disproportionate when compared with other capital felony cases in which the death penalty is imposed. In State v. Henry, 456 So.2d 466, 469 (Fla. 1984), this Court recognized that proportionality review "is a feature of state law" which has been cited with approval in Profitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 259, 49 L. Ed.2d 913, 926-927, 96 S. Ct. 2960, 2969-2970 (1976).

Despite the startling similarities between Caruthers and the case at bar, Caruthers' death sentence has been reversed as being disproportionate while Herring's death sentence still stands. The only meaningful differences between the present facts and those in Caruthers weigh in Herring's favor: Herring had never met the store clerk before, unlike Caruthers, who was known to his victim; and the clerk was shot twice in Herring, three times in Caruthers. In February 1984, this Court affirmed Herring's death sentence. In February 1985, this Court vacated the death sentence imposed on Caruthers and instructed that he receive a sentence of life imprisonment. If the Florida death penalty statute can permit two diametrically opposite results to flow from the same set of facts, then that statute is surely being applied in an arbitrary and capricious fashion.

B. Under Caruthers v. State Two Statutory Aggravating Circumstances Were Erroneously Applied

This Court's vacatur of Caruthers' death sentence was based, in part, upon a finding that the trial court erroneously found two statutory aggravating circumstances: that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, and that it was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. The sentence imposed on Herring was also based, in part, on these two aggravating circumstances. As such, it too must be vacated.

The Trial Court's Finding That the Murder Was Committed In a Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Manner Was Erroneous and Was Arbitrary and Capricious In Violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments

The ninth aggravating circumstance enumerated in Florida's capital sentencing statute is that:

The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

Fla. Stat. Ann. § 921.141(5)(i) (West 1985) (hereinafter "heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance"). The degree of premeditation required before this aggravating circumstance may be applied is greater than that necessary to establish premeditation for conviction in the guilt/innocence phase of a capital felony trial. Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984). The heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance is limited to cases in which "the facts show a particularly lengthy, methodic, or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator," Id. at 946. Consequently, "Iplroof of this aggravating circumstance requires a showing of a state of mind beyond that of the ordinary premeditation required for a first degree murder conviction." Maxwell v. State, 443 So.2d 967, 971 (Fla. 1983). Accord, Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44, 48 (Fla. 1983) ("This aggravating circumstance inures to the benefit of the defendant as it requires proof beyond that necessary to prove premeditation."); Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984, 72 L. Ed.2d 862, 102 S. Ct. 2258 (1982).

The heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance has been held inapplicable to cases in which the evidence established that the victim was killed "intentionally and deliberately," but nothing more. Maxwell v. State, 443 So.2d at 971. Rather, this "aggravating circumstance ordinarily applies in those murders which are characterized as executions or contract murders." McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804, 807 (Fla. 1982). Although this Court in McCray also observed that "this description is not intended to be all-inclusive," id., there is nothing in McCray or in any other case construing Section 921.141(5)(i) to suggest that this aggravating circumstance may be found in any capital felony case unless there is substantial evidence

that the killer first devised a plan to commit the murder and thereafter put that plan into effect.

Applying the foregoing body of law in *Caruthers*, this Court found that the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance had been erroneously applied, concluding that the operative facts, (1) that three shots were fired, and (2) that Caruthers and the victim knew each other, failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt "a manner of killing characterized by heightened premeditation beyond that required to establish premeditated murder." 465 So.2d at 498-499. The present case is even less compelling than *Caruthers*: Herring did *not* know the store clerk, and the clerk was shot only twice.

Nothing in this case even suggests premeditation, heightened or otherwise. Herring undertook to rob a convenience store, as he had done on prior occasions. In his confession, which was the product of eight hours of interrogation by the police, he stated that the clerk's sudden movement caused him to panic and fire his gun. He stated that he shot the clerk "by mistake," "out of fear," and in response to what he perceived to be a threatening movement by the clerk. (A170-A171) The State offered no evidence that contradicted Herring's version of the shooting. There is thus no evidence of reflection. The evidence demonstrates that the gun was fired thoughtlessly, as a reflex reaction rather than a planned act.

Moreover, there was no evidence that the homicide was preconceived. In fact, the record shows that the contrary was the case. In confessing to the crime for which he was sentenced to death, Herring also confessed to four other armed robberies in which no one was hurt and his gun was never fired. (A176-A183) His refusal to use his gun in these other cases demonstrates forcefully that he had no intention of using it in the present case, and that he did so only as a responsive act.

The trial court's error is further apparent from an examination of the cases in addition to *Caruthers* in which the application of Section 921.141(5)(i) has been rejected by this Court. In several cases, this Court has rejected the application of the heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance despite evidence of "a . . . lengthy . . . series of atrocious events." In *Preston v. State*, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984), after robbing a convenience store, the murderer kidnapped the store clerk, forced her to walk a mile and a half at knifepoint, after which the murderer cut the clerk's throat "by severing the jugular veins, trachea and main arteries of the neck. In addition, the victim

was stabbed numerous times about her body and a cross mark was cut into her forehead." 444 So.2d at 945. This Court rejected the applicability of this aggravating circumstance despite evidence which created

an obvious picture of a woman being forced at knifepoint this considerable distance speculating as to her fate and undoubtedly cognizant of the likelihood of death at the hands of her abductor. Clearly, the victim must have felt terror and fear as these events unfolded.

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