IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TED HERRING,
Appellant,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

1

CASE NO. 67,524

Dany.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ELLEN D. PHILLIPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

- and the state had much more current, and probative, data;
- b. The reports were not particularly favorable. There are indications throughout that appellant had the ability and intelligence to succeed, but lacked "nurturing" (or some other equally nebulous attribute of success).
- c. The reports impeached appellant's mother, who "was an effective defense witness" (A-161), by indicating she did not pursue appointments or assist her son as she claimed. When a decision appears reasonable or supportable on the record, the inquiry need go no further.
- Irrespective of what defense counsel would have testified on the stand, intentionally excluding the reports was, objectively, a reasonable tactical move. Where one attorney declares he acted intentionally and another states he simply didn't think about it, the effect on the trial remains the same; such testimony should not change the result for two identically situated defendants. Such testimony from a defense attorney who "rolls over" when his client is faced with execution is simply not probative. Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So.2d 207, 211 N. (Fla. 1985); Demps v. State, 416 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1982). As long as the decision is within the realm of objectively reasonable trial strategy, the strong presumption of competence makes the attorney's actual reasoning

irrelevant. Strickland, at 2066, citing Michel v.

New York, 350 U.S. 91, 101; 76 S.Ct. 158, 164;

100 L.Ed. 83 (1955). In Strickland itself, there was no state evidentiary hearing, and the testimony taken in the federal district court was deemed "irrelevant", 104 S.Ct. at 2071; in Michel, no testimony was considered in deeming failure to file a motion possible strategy; in Armstrong v.

State, 429 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1983), no evidentiary hearing was necessary to declare these matters within the realm of trial strategy, not subject to question.

An evidentiary hearing is also unnecessary, because failure to introduce the reports resulted in no prejudice. Judge Foxman, who was also the sentencing judge, declared the result would have been no different had all the purportedly mitigating evidence been admitted. Further, appellant's mother testified to these same matters, and the reports were merely "cumulative." (A-160). This case is virtually identical to Middleton, where the matters alleged in mitigation were already before the court, and were of minimal value; no evidentiary hearing was necessary; the trial judge determining he would have imposed the same sentence anyway. 465 So.2d at 1224.

2. Failure to investigate and present other mitigation evidence.

Appellant's present counsel secured statements from early teachers and people in New York who would have testified regarding Herring's better qualities when he was a child. (See A-126-137).

It is not at all clear what effect such evidence would have had on a jury, since, once again, such psychological data merely reveals Herring had every chance to avoid a life of robberies and murder, and has no one to blame but himself. Further, as the trial judge points out, the testimony of the teachers was very dated and "of doubtful value." Additionally, calling such witnesses is "frought with peril" since the state may cross-examine or rebut defendant's supposed "good character" and "vulnerable" traits. It is quite possible that the failure to open up the defendant's character to attack should never be susceptible to a claim of ineffectiveness. The claim is certainly frivolous here, where Herring sought to avoid introduction of his numerous prior robberies, his prior drug involvement, his current anti-social psychological makeup, and any other negative information which could have been used to rebut the alleged mitigating factors. (See, SR-2-11).

The state had witnesses who would have testified adversely to the defendant had mitigation evidence on these matters been offered. Wisely, defense counsel avoided this damaging evidence, but still presented the identical information to the judge and jury through use of the defendant's mother's testimony. (SR 25-36). The state attempted to impeach her, but could not. (See, SR 37-39). Use of the defendant's relatives would have been merely cumulative, and would have revealed such information as the fact that appellant's mother kicked him out of the house, thus destroying the best witness he had. Failure to present additional witnesses to the same facts does not constitute ineffective assistance, Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985), and the decision not to present witnesses in mitagation is a tactical one. Magill v. State, 457 So.2d 1367

(Fla. 1984); Armstrong v. State, 429 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1983). This point is especially meritless in view of the fact that these matters were in fact before the court, and "the trial court did list and consider these matters as mitigating factors." (A-160); Middleton; Lightbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985).

3. Failure to contest the aggravating factor of heightened premeditation.

Appellant here re-argues the applicability of the heightened premeditation aggravating factor to his case. This issue was already discussed in this court's opinion on direct appeal, and cannot be re-raised in the guise of ineffective assistance. Harris v. Wainwright, 473 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 1985); Sireci v. State, 469 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 1985).

4. Lack of knowledge and skill.

This allegation is patently unsupported and unsupportable in the record, and the judge who conducted the trial found no deficiency in counsel's performance. The utterly frivolous nature of this claim is exemplified by appellant's statement that counsel "did not even represent Herring at trial," when he knows full well that attorney Quarles filed many of the pre-trial motions, conducted hearings, and was present throughout the trial. Likewise, the active trial attorney, Howard Pearl, was present during sentencing. Needless to say, this general attack on Quarles' ability states no omission or error in itself.

a. "Admission of prejudicial testimony" regarding lack of remorse.

Appellant's attack here is particularly unsupportable, since counsel did, in fact, object to the testimony on the grounds that lack of remorse is not admissible, which

is exactly the grounds alleged by his present counsel. Basically, appellant disputes the ruling allowing admission of the testimony. This is an issue for direct appeal, not cognizable by collateral attack. Quince v. State, 10 F.L.W. 493 (Fla. 1985); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984). Appellee notes in passing that failure to succeed in his argument does not mean counsel was inadequate. Steinhorst v. State, 10 F.L.W. 536 (Fla. September 26, 1985). The fact that counsel did not need to review Sireci during the hearing proves nothing, except perhaps that he was already familiar with the case.

b. Admission of highly prejudicial testimony on cross-examination.

As noted above, when a witness is offered to provide mitigating evidence, he is subject to cross-examination and rebuttal; this is one reason why the decision to offer witnesses in mitigation is virtually always immune from attack. See Armstrong v. State. Here, the state asked Herring's mother why he had gone to Florida, eliciting information about drug activity in New York. However, there is no basis whatever to conclude counsel's failure to object prejudiced the defendant. The trial judge has announced he would have allowed the questioning as proper. (A-161). The questions and answers themselves display no prejudice, contrary to the misrepresentations in appellant's brief. Herring's mother testified that Herring helped the

police <u>against</u> drug dealers in New York, and was in danger from the dealers. (SR 33). The state's attempt to impeach this testimony (on proffer) failed, (SR 35-39), and the testimony came out in Herring's favor rather than to his disadvantage.

- c. Failure to introduce the psychological reports
 Counsel attempted to read a poem written by Herring
 (when he was a child) from an old psychological report,
 and was prevented from doing so because the report was
 not in evidence. Aside from the obvious lack of prejudice in excluding this fundamentally irrelevant poem,
 the many reasons why counsel would not want the report
 introduced are outlined above and by the trial judge in
 his order. That counsel attempted to get the poem to
 the jury without prejudicing his case with introduction
 of the report helps demonstrate the diligence of his
 representation rather than detract from it.
 - d. Exclusion of proportionality evidence.

Counsel attempted to present evidence of other murder cases where the death penalty was not imposed. There were no cases to support introduction of the evidence, so counsel was candid enough to so admit. This is an ethical obligation of Florida lawyers. The issue was appealed, and addressed by this court. It was not ineffective to decline to make the frivolous argument presented now, which was specifically rejected in this court's opinion. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984). The issue is not cognizable by 3.850.

e. Counsel's argument regarding Herring's age.

This argument has no basis in fact. Counsel did argue that Herring's age "is a very definite mitigating circumstance in this case you have to consider" (SR 57). It is more than apparent from the context of the argument (SR 57) that the statement-"that certainly does not apply"-is an error - either counsel misspoke, or the court reporter erroneously injected the word "not". The trial judge, in his order, observes that the "not" was a court reporter error. This point, like many others appellant argues, is totally without merit in that:

- 1. The context of the misprint makes clear that age was in fact argued in mitigation, and
- 2. The trial judge in fact found age to be a mitigating factor (ROA 76).

As the order herein states, "Mr. Quarles definitely did argue to the jury that age was a mitigating factor, and this court found it to be so." (A 162).

In sum, none of the specific acts or omissions appellant delineates constitutes a deficiency in representation. Several are simply untrue, and many overlook the strategic choices counsel pursued as evidenced by the record. All of appellant's claims, taken together, fail to make the necessary showing of prejudice, given the minimal nature of the suggested changes and the overwhelming burden faced by the defense in this case. As noted by the trial judge,

This court must view trial counsels' alleged errors and omissions in light of the case as a whole. It

was a difficult case from the defense standpoint. The defendant confessed to the crime. Efforts to suppress the confession failed. The defendant not only initially gave conflicting stories to police but perhaps most damaging of all he told the jury the preposterous story of how a second robber "beat him to the punch," robbed and shot the clerk. Frankly, this preposterous story doomed the defendant not only as to a conviction but as to a sentence as well. There was little the defense could do to save the defendant after that.

(A 162-163). Judge Foxman, who was the sentencing judge, also noted that "the aggravating factors in this case strongly outweighed the mitigating factors," and that "even if the non-statutory mitigating factors were bolstered by teacher's statements, comments of relatives, and poems of the defendant, the result would be no different." (A 163). An evidentiary hearing would make no difference. Assuming each and every fact alleged is proven exactly as Herring says, the trial judge's order would be the same. The record, on its face, supports the trial judge's conclusions; no ineffectiveness of counsel is shown. Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985); Armstrong v. State, 429 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1983).

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE APPLIED A NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTOR IN SENTENCING HERRING TO DEATH.

The findings of fact supporting Herring's death sentence are at (ROA 73-77). No non-statutory aggravating factor is mentioned. The fact that Judge Foxman, in this later 3.850 hearing, observes the difficulty of the defense position does not mean he relied on any improper consideration. Appellant might as well argue the judge relied on the fact that he confessed, or that his "counsel tried to 'sneak' in the poems," or that he put his mother on the stand; all are mentioned in the order. None warrant an assumption of impropriety.

POINT IV

MISCELLANEOUS NON-COGNIZABLE CLAIMS

After forty (40) pages and about a dozen claims, appellant recognizes that matters which were or could have been raised on appeal are not cognizable in a collateral attack. He then proceeds to expound various admittedly improper issues, labelling this court "arbitrary" if it fails to consider them. Appellee respectfully suggests this court has consistently refused to address claims which were or could have been brought on direct appeal, absent fundamental error. See, Porter v. State, 10 F.L.W. 573 (Fla. October 25, 1985); Quince v. State, 10 F.L.W. 493 (Fla. 1985); Lightbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985); Francois v. State, 470 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1985); Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Raulerson v. State, 462 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1985); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1985); Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1985); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984); Palmes v. Wainwright, 460 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1984); Mikenas v. State, 460 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1984); Smith v. State, 457 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1984); Magill v. State, 457 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1984); Adams v. State, 456 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984); Dobbert v. State, 456 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1984); Smith v. State, 453 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1984); Zeigler v. State, 452 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1984); Ford v. Wainwright, 451 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1984); Funchess v. State, 449 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1984); Adams v. State, 449 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1984); Jones v. State, 446 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1984), Smith v. State, 445 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1983); Booker v. State, 441 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1983); Messer v. State, 439 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1983); McCrae v. State, 439 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1983); McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); Raulerson v. State, 437 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1983); Miller v. State,

435 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1983); Hitchcock v. State, 432 So.2d 42 (Fla. 1983); Armstrong v. State, 429 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1983); Palmes v. State, 425 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1983); Thomas v. State, 421 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1982); Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1982); Raulerson v. State, 420 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1982); Demps v. State, 416 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1982); Christopher v. State, 416 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1982); Thompson v. State, 410 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1982); Antone v. State, 410 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1982); Goode v. State, 403 So.2d 931 (Fla. 1981); Hargrove v. State, 396 So.2d 1127 (Fla. 1981); Alvord v. State, 396 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1981); Adams v. State, 380 So.2d 423 (Fla. 1980); Sullivan v. State, 372 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1979); Spinkelink v. State, 350 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1972).

Nor do appellant's alleged "exceptions" help him. The fact that an issue, although foreclosed as a vehicle for relief, may warrant discussion to assist bench and bar does not mean that Florida is now required to forgo its procedural rules for Mr. Herring's benefit. Nothing fundamental is even suggested by appellant. These claims are properly summarily denied.

A. THE PROBATION OFFICER'S TESTIMONY

Prior to <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983), lack of remorse was admissible evidence. There is no fundamental error in these previous trials as a result. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). Appellee notes that the heinous, atrocious and cruel factor was considered close by the judge. (ROA 74). The admission of this testimony, in addition to being proper at the time, is not susceptible to collateral attack.

B. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS

The propriety of the jury instructions given has not only

been affirmed innumerable times, but the fact that this attack is not cognizable is also well established. See, e.g., Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985); Smith v. State, 457 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1984); Adams v. State, 456 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984).

C. PROPORTIONALITY

This issue was addressed on direct appeal. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984).

D. IMPROPER COMMENTS OF THE PROSECUTOR.

Allegedly improper comments must be appealed directly, and are not subject to collateral attack. <u>Francois v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1985); Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).

POINT V

WHETHER THERE WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN THE JURY SELECTION

A. WITHERSPOON

As appellant notes, his <u>Witherspoon</u> objections were already addressed at length in Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984).

B. THE JURY REPRESENTED A REPRESENTATIVE CROSS-SECTION

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